RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-08-2013 C O U R T O F A P P E A L S District II Case #2012AP002103-CR Lower Court Case: #10 CF 527 Related Lower Court Case: #10 JV 107

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

- v. -

CODY G. PHILLIPS,

Defendant/Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM DECISIONS AND ORDERS OF THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT DATED SEPTEMBER 12, 2012 AND OCTOBER 10, 2012, THE HONORABLE ALLAN TORHORST PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

Submitted by:

DEBORAH J. STAHL Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

4684 Murphy Court Middleton, WI 53562 (608) 852-8569 State Bar No.: 1011261

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented in this appeal:

Issue #1 Did the trial court have the authority to declare a juvenile court waiver order illegal, instead of remanding the matter to the juvenile court for such a determination?

Trial court answered **"Yes."** *Defendant/Appellant disagrees.*

Issue #2 Did the trial court have the authority to uphold a juvenile court waiver order when legitimate challenges to its validity were raised, instead of remanding the matter to the juvenile court for such a determination?

Trial court answered **"Yes."** *Defendant/Appellant disagrees.*

Issue #3 Did the trial court properly refuse to remand to juvenile court for further juvenile court proceedings because the juvenile court lacked jurisdiction to conduct such further proceedings upon remand?

Trial court answered **"Yes."** *Defendant/Appellant disagrees.*

Issue #4 Should the juvenile court have denied the waiver petition because one of the two counts was not waivable?

Neither the trial court nor the juvenile court addressed. *Defendant/Appellant supports a "Yes" answer.*

Issue #5 Was the defect in the waiver proceedings harmless?

Neither the trial court nor the juvenile court addressed. *Defendant/Appellant supports a "No" answer.*

Issue #6 What is the proper remedy for the defect in the waiver proceedings?

Neither the trial court nor the juvenile court addressed. Defendant/Appellant proposes that the matter be remanded to the juvenile court where the defect occurred.

<u>COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u> <u>AND STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

This appeal largely presents a procedural challenge; thus, the facts are inextricably intertwined with the procedural history of the case. Accordingly, a combined Statement of the Case and Statement of Facts is warranted. The following paragraphs set forth the relevant procedural and factual history in this case:

- 1. On March 8, 2010, Defendant/Appellant Cody Phillips (hereafter referred to as "Cody") was charged in a two count delinquency petition, Case No. 10 JV 107 in Racine County Juvenile Court [Appendix I].¹ The state simultaneously filed a petition for waiver of juvenile court jurisdiction [Appendix II].
- 2. With regard to the first count in the delinquency petition [Appendix I]:
 - a. Count 1 alleged a violation of §948.02(1)©, *Wis. Stats*. (first degree sexual assault of a child under age 16 by use or threat of force or violence), a

As this Brief was being finalized, it was noted that several critical documents were not part of the appellate record, namely the juvenile court delinquency petition, the juvenile court waiver petition, and the juvenile court waiver order. Presumably, these were not included in the appellate record because they were only filed in the juvenile court case (Racine County Case #10 JV 107) rather than in the adult case which followed (Racine County Case #10 CF 527). The appellate record does contain the transcripts of the waiver hearing in the juvenile case. With the consent of AAG Sally Wellman, and in an effort to avoid the delay that would ensue with the filing of a motion to supplement the record and the filing of a supplemental return, the 3 documents are included in Appellant's Appendix. If necessary, a formal motion to supplement the record will be submitted.

Class B felony.

- b. The charging portion of the petition alleged an offense date of either the fall of 2007 or 2008. Cody's birth date is February 18, 1994; thus, Cody would have been under 15 years of age even on the latest date that the offense was alleged to have occurred.
- c. The state utilized the mandatory waiver form to request waiver of Cody [Appendix II].² This form requires the state to check one of 3 boxes, with each box corresponding to one of the 3 statutory conditions for waiver.³ Here, the state asserted that Cody was age 15 or older when Count 1 was committed. (§938.18(1)(c), *Wis. Stats.* establishes age 15 or older as one of the statutory conditions on which waiver can be premised).
- 3. With regard to Count 2 in the delinquency petition [Appendix I]:
 - a. The second count alleged a violation of §948.02(2), *Wis. Stats.* (second degree sexual assault of a child under 16 years of age), a Class C felony.
 - b. The alleged date of offense was March 2, 2010, when Cody would have been two weeks past his 16th birthday.
 - c. The offense alleged in Count 2 was unrelated to the offense alleged in Count 1, as the petition

² Form JD-1722, Petition for Waiver of Jurisdiction.

³ See:, §938.18(1)(a), (b) and ©, Wis. Stats.

alleged a different victim, a different location, and an offense date that was years after Count 1 allegedly occurred.

- d. As it did for Count 1 (but here, correctly), the state asserted that Cody was subject to waiver because he was age 15 or older when the offense alleged in Count 2 was committed. [Appendix II]
- 4. Attorney Janice Pasaba was appointed to represent Cody [R:56]. She did not challenge the authority of the juvenile court to waive Cody even though it was clear that Cody could not have been 15 years of age or older in Count 1 as the petition for waiver alleged. She stipulated to a finding of prosecutive merit at the beginning of the proceedings, raising no concern regarding Cody's age at the time of the alleged offense in Count 1 [R:56;5-6]. Thus, the juvenile court conducted a waiver hearing unaware that the state had falsely alleged that Count 1 was committed after Cody became age 15.⁴
- 5. During the waiver hearing, the state argued in favor of waiver by vehemently emphasizing the seriousness of Count 1. It argued that the mere fact that there were *two* counts caused heightened concern regarding the dangerousness of the juvenile and the need for community protection. Additionally, because Count 1 was significantly more serious (not only was it first degree sexual assault instead of second degree sexual assault, it was the only count that alleged the use of a dangerous weapon and a threat to the victim's life), the state emphasized Count 1 more than it did Count 2 to support waiver. Specific examples of the prosecutor's argument include the following, with the bolded phrases pertaining to Count 1 only:

⁴ On Count 1, Cody did not meet the criteria for waiver as provided in §938.18(1) (a) or (b), as well as failing to meet the criterion named by the state, found in subsection (c).

So in addition to the disparity in height and weight, the use of a weapon and his words with his intent auger toward the seriousness of this offense but he doesn't learn from that incident. A year later he goes on to victimize another girl.⁵ [R:58;5-6]

When we move on to the prong that the Court has to consider regarding the type and seriousness of offense, this crime was obviously against a person. But this is really the sticking point for the state, it wasn't just one victim that Cody has been charged with but two victims. And those victims both had offenses committed against them with the use of force. The first victim Kelsey had a knife held at her throat⁶ and it's alleged that Cody indicated quote if you don't give me a blow job I'll kill you, close quote. [R:58;5]

6. Judge Marik agreed, adopting both arguments [R:58]: first, that the alleged facts supporting Count 1 contributed significantly to considerations of seriousness and dangerousness, and second, that waiver was justified because of the implication of more than one offense under the Court's consideration for waiver. The juvenile court emphasized the offenses in plural each time it considered the seriousness of Cody's conduct and the need for

⁵ The prosecutor argued that only 1 year separated the two offenses. But the allegations in the juvenile petition and subsequent complaint showed that the Count 1 offense occurred in 2007, two and half to three years earlier than the Count 2 offense.

⁶ Interestingly, nowhere in these entire proceedings (including the delinquency petition [Appendix I], the criminal complaint [R:1], the preliminary hearing transcript [R:41], the information [R:2], the pre-sentence investigation [R:13], or the sentencing transcript [R:48], was there ever an allegation that a knife was held to the victim's throat. It is a mystery where the prosecutor obtained this "fact," and a mystery why Cody's juvenile defense counsel failed to object.

public protection. The court particularly emphasized the allegations supporting Count 1 (bolding added) [R:58;32-33]:

So the offenses are of a type and seriousness that are extremely, extremely aggravated. Based upon the allegations **they** were committed in a violent and aggressive manner involving the use of physical violence and restraint, and the use of a weapon and threat of killing the victim. There's nothing here to suggest that they were spur of the moment. There's suggestions here that they were premeditated in that the first count is alleged to have been prepared for by his having a knife with him and encountering this young lady out in a public area when no one else was around...... So that criteria [seriousness] is one that weighs extremely, extremely heavily in favor of waiver of jurisdiction and is entitled to significant weight.

7. Finally, the juvenile court stated (bolding added) [R:58;43-44]:

We have **two** extremely serious violent offenses alleged with a significant passage of time between them. Based on the nature of the **offenses**, **based on the number of offenses** and based upon the time parameters that we're talking about here it is the Court's belief that if in fact there is an adjudication of guilt on **these offenses** that there will be significant emphasis that will need to be placed on protection of the public and the community on a long term basis.

8. The juvenile court waived Cody into adult court on April 14th, 2010. [Appendix 3]

- 9. On April 15, 2010, the very next day, a criminal complaint [R:1] was filed by the state in adult court. It alleged the same two counts. Count 1 (which never should have been waived) alleged that Cody faced a minimum mandatory 25 year prison sentence if convicted.
- 10. According to the post-conviction motion, Cody filed a notice of intent to seek relief from the juvenile court waiver order [R:30;7,¶1]. However, his adult court counsel, Attorney Patrick Cafferty, also failed to notice that Cody was too young at the time of the offense alleged in Count 1 of the petition to have been waived into adult court, and advised the court on April 28, 2010 that Cody was abandoning his intent to seek interlocutory relief from the waiver order [R:30; 7 ¶4].
- 11. Instead of pursuing appellate relief from the waiver order, Attorney Cafferty proceeded to defend the adult criminal case. Following a preliminary hearing, Attorney Cafferty filed a motion to sever the two counts [R:6], but later withdrew it allegedly based on the state's position that if he pursued it, the state would refuse to negotiate any plea bargain that removed the 25 year minimum mandatory prison sentence on Count 1.⁷
- 12. Thereafter, with Cody desperate to avoid the 25 year minimum mandatory prison term tied to Count 1, a plea agreement was reached. The plea agreement that was placed on the record [R:46] and thereafter approved by the circuit court [R:46] was as follows:
 - a. Count 1 was amended from first to second degree

⁷ Since no hearing was held on Cody's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, no evidentiary record of this discussion exists. However, this factual allegation was made in the post-conviction motion filed in March, 2012 [R30; 8 ¶9], resulting in the state's eventual concession.

sexual assault of a child (the same charge levied in Count 2, and thereby eliminating the minimum mandatory 25 year prison term.)

- b. Cody pled no contest to both Count 1 (as amended) and Count 2.
- 13. Following a contested sentencing hearing, Cody was sentenced to a combined prison term of 10 years, 6 years on Count 1 and 4 years consecutively on Count 2 [R:16]. He was also placed on extended supervision and required to register as a sex offender [R:16]
- 14. Appellate counsel was then appointed, a motion for post conviction relief was filed on March 19, 2012 [R:30] and supplemented on June 28, 2012 [R:31]. The motion alleged ineffective assistance by Cody's juvenile and his adult defense attorneys. Two major errors were alleged:
 - a. First Cody asserted that his trial attorneys failed to notice and challenge the false jurisdictional allegation in the waiver petition providing that Cody was age 15 years or older at the time that the offense in Count 1 was allegedly committed (described *infra* and conceded by the state).
 - b. Second, Cody asserted that he was not properly subject to the 25 year minimum mandatory prison sentence as stated in the adult criminal proceedings, because the mandatory term by statute applied to defendants age 18 and over at the time of the offense, and he was under age 18 at the time of the alleged offense. He stated that his entry into the plea agreement was based on the belief that the mandatory penalty applied to him, and on his goal of avoiding the mandatory prison

term, being advised of its imposition if he exercised his rights to a jury trial and did not prevail. Additionally, he stated he experienced a great deal of pressure as to the mandatory sentence hanging over his head. (Cody was just sixteen years old when he was trying to decide to accept a plea agreement, all to avoid a mandatory 25 year prison sentence that only applied to defendants who were 18 at the time of the offense). Therefore the plea agreement was invalid, and based upon inaccurate information.

- 15. Following several delays (none at Cody's initiative), and several days after the deadline established by the trial court for the state to respond with its legal position [R:52;8], the Racine County District Attorney's Office filed a three page memo with the trial court late in the day on August 27, 2012 [R:32]. The state agreed that Cody was improperly waived into adult court, noting, however, that this concession applied to Count 1 only. The state believed that Cody was properly waived on Count 2. The state conceded that the mandatory penalty provision from the adult proceedings was inapplicable to Cody, agreed that avoiding the penalty provision motivated Cody's entry into the plea agreement, and agreed that Cody should be able to withdraw his pleas on both counts.
- 16. As a result of the state's concessions, no *Machner*-type hearing (*State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979) was conducted into the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. This was deemed unnecessary by the circuit court since relief was being granted regardless, via the parties' stipulation.
- 17. Finally, at the September 10th, 2012 hearing [R:53;8-10, 25] and again in writing on September 12, 2012, the circuit court set

aside the judgment of conviction and vacated the pleas and sentences on both counts. In a written Decision and Order [R:33; Appendix 5], the court's ruling was multifaceted:

- a. First, the circuit court held that the waiver on Count 1 was improper and ruled that *"the State will have to determine its next appropriate action as to Count 1."* [R:33;3] Notably, the order did not remand the matter back to the juvenile court.
- b. The circuit court went on to hold that the waiver on Count 2 was and continued to be legal [R:33;4].
- c. The order stated that as to Count 2, if Cody had still been under 18 years of age, then the matter should be returned to the juvenile court for further proceedings because that was the point where the defect occurred. However, the circuit court ruled that since Cody had by now reached age 18, the juvenile court had no jurisdiction to do anything so Count 2 must remain in the adult court. [R:33;4]
- d. Cody requested reconsideration of various points of the order [R:34] but that request was denied [R:38; Appendix 6].
- 18. Cody promptly filed a petition for leave to appeal a non-final order [R:35], which this Court granted.

Further facts necessary to Cody's argument are set forth in the following sections of this Brief.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Both sides agreed in the trial court proceedings that a serious error was committed in the juvenile court waiver proceeding. Waiver was sought and obtained on a delinquency petition that contained two charges, one allegation (Count 1) to have occurred when Cody was too young to be subject to waiver, with all parties operating under the false assertion that Count 1 was properly before the juvenile court for waiver. Both sides also agreed in the trial court proceedings that Cody's pleas to both counts in adult court were invalid because they were significantly influenced by the perceived threat of a mandatory minimum 25 year prison sentence upon conviction of Count 1. It was conceded that this mandatory minimum sentence was inapplicable to Cody due to his age; of course, it was also inapplicable because Cody's age at the time of the alleged offense precluded waiver.

The parties disagreed about what should happen in light of the defective waiver proceedings where the juvenile court considered a two-count delinquency petition that was not a proper petition for waiver consideration due to the fact that one count was not subject to waiver. Cody asked that the trial court remand jurisdiction to the juvenile court that issued the illegal waiver order so that the juvenile court could consider what relief was appropriate, while the state argued that the trial court should "affirm" the waiver on Count 2 and continue with the adult court proceedings, and allow the state to file the charge from Count 1 as a new criminal proceeding.

The trial court ruled that Cody's waiver on Count 1 was illegal [33:3].

The trial court further ruled that Count 2 was and continued to be legal [33:4]. Oddly, the trial court stated that if Cody was under age 18, the matter should be returned to the juvenile court because that is the point where the defect occurred. However, the trial court observed that since Cody was now over age 18, jurisdiction should remain in adult court (with regard to Count 2).

In the following sections, Cody will show that the trial court lacked authority to uphold, affirm, vacate or modify the waiver order. Further, Cody will show that the trial court erred in concluding that the juvenile court could not act due to his current age 18 status. Finally, Cody will show that he should be permitted to seek relief from the juvenile court due to the defective waiver proceedings. Generally speaking, the errors asserted are matters of law, which are reviewed *de novo* by the appellate courts.

II. THE ADULT COURT LACKED AUTHORITY TO VACATE, AFFIRM OR MODIFY THE WAIVER ORDER ISSUED BY THE JUVENILE COURT.

The juvenile court is co-equal with adult court. Both are presided over by circuit court judges. No statute authorizes one circuit court to overrule the other circuit court. An attempt by one judge to change another judge's order is improper, as it fails to recognize this co-equality of authority. Moreover, a risk is created that there will be two inconsistent, even contradictory, court orders in effect, each entitled to enforcement.

This general proposition has been expressly applied to juvenile waiver proceedings. In *In the Interest of Vairin M.*, 255 Wis. 2d 137, 157, 647

N.W.2d 208, 217 (2002), the Wisconsin Supreme Court discussed the adult criminal court's absolute lack of authority to modify a juvenile court ruling, stating:

We note initially two means of review⁸ that are not applicable after the criminal court assumes exclusive jurisdiction. First, the criminal court may not reconsider the juvenile court's decision to waive the juvenile into criminal court. As Chief Justice Dixon stated in 1868, "The impropriety, I might say the utter absurdity, of applying to one court to restrain, modify or correct the orders or decrees of another court of coordinate jurisdiction, is also apparent. I think it is wholly inadmissible to do so." [Citations omitted, bolding added].

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