# **RECEIVED**

07-23-2013

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2012AP2103-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CODY G. PHILLIPS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM DECISIONS AND ORDERS OF THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT DATED SEPTEMBER 12, 2012 AND OCTOBER 10, 2012, THE HONORABLE ALLAN B. TORHORST, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SALLY L. WELLMAN **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Moreover, remand to the juvenile court of the offense charged in Count 1 would serve no purpose. The juvenile court could not hold a new waiver hearing on Count 1 and waive jurisdiction over Count 1, because the waiver statutes do not permit Phillips to be waived for that offense which was committed before he was fourteen years old. Phillips does not contend that the juvenile court could impose any disposition on the original delinquency petition after Phillips had already reached the age of eighteen at the time of the postconviction proceedings.

Phillips relies on *State v. Aufderhaar*, 2005 WI 108, ¶28, 283 Wis. 2d 336, 700 N.W.2d 4, in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that because personal jurisdiction never attached, the juvenile court could not waive Aufderhaar into adult criminal court, and the adult criminal court did not acquire personal jurisdiction over him, and should have dismissed the criminal action in the

trial court. The supreme court held that remand to the juvenile court in that situation was appropriate because the delinquency petition was filed before Aufderhaar turned seventeen. The supreme court explained that upon remand, if sufficient service was made for the juvenile court to acquire jurisdiction, the juvenile court would have available the statutory option to again waive the charge into the adult trial court, or to dismiss the delinquency petition.

In contrast, in Phillips' case, on remand a new waiver order would not be an option because the statutes do not allow the charge of sexual assault committed when Phillips was under fourteen years old to be waived into adult court.

Contrary to Phillips' implicit assumption, Aufderhaar does not hold that in every situation where a waiver order was invalid, the trial court must remand to the juvenile court. In Aufderhaar, the defendant asked the supreme court to order that all proceedings in both the adult and juvenile court be dismissed with prejudice. The State requested remand to the juvenile court as an alternative to defendant's proposed remedy. The supreme court rejected dismissal with prejudice. Thus, Aufderhaar stands only for the proposition that dismissal of all proceedings with prejudice is not required and that the trial court may remand to the juvenile court when the meaningful option of a new waiver order is available. In Phillips' case, that option is not available and remand would serve no purpose.

During the postconviction proceedings, the State indicated its belief that because Phillips has reached the age of eighteen and is subject to adult criminal court jurisdiction, it would be able to file a new criminal complaint charging Phillips with sexual assault based on the facts underlying Count 1, which occurred when he was under fourteen years of age (32; 53:3). The trial court did not address the propriety of filing a new complaint in the adult criminal court, but stated only that the State would

have to decide what it wanted to do on Count 1. The trial court indicated that because the court had vacated the conviction and because it never had proper jurisdiction over Count 1, there was no longer anything before it on that case (33:3; 38:2-3; 53:8, 10). The State has not filed a new criminal complaint at this point. The trial court issued a stay of all trial court proceedings pending the instant appeal (54:6-7).

The State believes that it could properly file a new criminal complaint charging Phillips with sexual assault based on the facts underlying Count 1 which occurred when he was under fourteen years old, and the adult criminal court would have jurisdiction over that charge. The adult criminal court has subject matter jurisdiction to hear and determine any charges brought against an adult defendant, even if the defendant was a juvenile at the time of the offense and even if the offense was one for which the juvenile could not have been waived into adult court. State v. LeQue, 150 Wis. 2d 256, 258, 265, 442 N.W.2d 494 (Ct. App. 1989). A criminal defendant, however, has a due process right not to be deprived of the potential benefits of juvenile court jurisdiction by deliberate state manipulation intended to avoid juvenile court jurisdiction. State v. Becker, 74 Wis. 2d 675, 677, 247 N.W.2d 495 (1976); LeQue, 150 Wis. 2d at 267. Only intentional manipulation by the State designed to avoid juvenile jurisdiction constitutes a due process violation that requires dismissal of a criminal complaint in adult court; prosecutorial negligence absent manipulative intent to avoid juvenile jurisdiction does not constitute a due process violation. State v. Montgomery, 148 Wis. 2d 593, 595, 436 N.W.2d 303 (1989); *LeQue*, 150 Wis. 2d at 268.

If the State were to file a new criminal complaint charging Phillips with sexual assault based on the facts underlying Count 1, Phillips would be entitled to file a motion to dismiss on due process grounds. If Phillips' motion alleged sufficient facts making a prima facie showing of manipulative intent to avoid juvenile jurisdiction, he would be entitled to an evidentiary hearing

at which the State would bear the burden of proving it did not have manipulative intent. If the State met its burden of proof, the motion to dismiss would have to be denied; if the State could not meet its burden of proof, the motion to dismiss would have to be granted. *State v. Velez*, 224 Wis. 2d 1, 13-18, 589 N.W.2d 9 (1999).

In the *Becker/LeQue/Montgomery* line of due process cases, proceedings were initiated in the adult criminal court after the defendant had reached the age at which the juvenile court no longer had jurisdiction; proceedings had never been filed in the juvenile court. In Phillips' case, a juvenile delinquency petition was originally filed. That factual distinction, however, does not impact the due process analysis. The *Becker/LeQue/Montgomery*, due process analysis would still be applicable if a new criminal complaint were filed in the adult criminal court.

Phillips received the remedy to which he was entitled when the trial court allowed Phillips to withdraw his no contest pleas and vacated his criminal convictions. The trial court properly declined to remand Count 1 to the juvenile court to proceed on the previously filed delinquency petition, because by the time of the postconviction proceedings, Phillips was eighteen, under the facts of this case, the juvenile court could not have issued a new waiver order on the non-waivable offense, and no dispositional options were available for the now-adult Phillips.

This court stated in *LeQue* that the purpose of the juvenile code is to provide a program of rehabilitative treatment designed for children charged with crime. *LeQue*, 150 Wis. 2d at 267. As the court further explained:

Individuals who are charged as children have the needs of children, and are, presumably, receptive to treatment designed for children. However, individuals who are charged as adults, regardless of when the criminal act was committed, no longer will

benefit from treatment which is designed to benefit children. Such individuals have adult interests and needs.

Id.

For all of these reasons, remand of Count 1 to the juvenile court was not required in this case.

3. The trial court properly declined to remand Count 2 to the juvenile court.

The waiver order on Count 2 was valid because Phillips was over fourteen years old when that offense occurred, and therefore the trial court properly acquired jurisdiction on that offense. Nonetheless, the trial court properly allowed Phillips to withdraw his no contest plea and vacated his conviction on Count 2. Although the waiver order was jurisdictionally valid as to Count 2, when the plea agreement was entered and the plea was accepted, it was based on a global plea agreement to a reduced charge on Count 1 designed to avoid a mandatory minimum sentence that everyone erroneously believed was applicable to the original charge in Count 1. The mutual misunderstanding of the penalty and the mutual misunderstanding of the benefits of the global plea agreement justified the trial court in allowing Phillips to withdraw his plea and vacating the conviction on Count 2. (33; 38; 53:26).

By allowing Phillips to withdraw his no contest plea and vacating the conviction on Count 2, over which the trial court had acquired jurisdiction pursuant to a facially valid waiver order, the trial court placed Phillips back in the position he was in prior to entry of the plea agreement. Phillips was now in a position to negotiate a new plea agreement or invoke his right to a trial on Count 2. This provided him with all of the relief to which he was entitled on Count 2.

The trial court properly declined to remand Count 2 to the juvenile court. Unlike Count 1, the waiver order as to Count 2 was facially and jurisdictionally valid, and based on that waiver order the trial court properly acquired jurisdiction over Count 2. There was no basis for the trial court to go behind that facially valid order and speculate that the juvenile court might not have waived jurisdiction over Count 2 if the waiver petition had not included Count 1. Indeed, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has expressly stated that the criminal court may not reconsider the juvenile court's waiver decision. *In re Vairin M.*, 2002 WI 96, ¶42, 255 Wis. 2d 137, 647 N.W.2d 208.

If a juvenile has compelling new grounds bearing on waiver, he may promptly file a motion with the adult criminal court asking the court to relinquish its jurisdiction by transferring the matter to the juvenile court. The juvenile must allege a new factor that was not in existence or overlooked by all the parties, highly relevant to the criteria for waiver and likely would have affected the juvenile court's determination that it would be contrary to the interests of the juvenile or of the public for the juvenile court to hear the case. If the juvenile makes such a showing in his motion, the adult criminal court may conduct a hearing and if it finds good cause it may relinquish jurisdiction by transferring jurisdiction to the juvenile court. The juvenile may then file a motion for reconsideration of the waiver order in the juvenile court, which will have regained exclusive jurisdiction of the This is an extraordinary remedy that should be strictly limited to compelling new factors. Vairin M., 255 Wis. 2d 137, ¶¶ 54-56.

Phillips never asked the adult criminal court to relinquish its jurisdiction over Count 2 to the juvenile court under *Vairin M*. Even if Phillips' request for remand in the trial court could be generously construed as a *Vairin M*. motion, Phillips failed to meet the requirements. His motion was not brought promptly after the adult criminal court obtained jurisdiction over Count

2, but was brought only after conviction and sentencing in the adult criminal court.<sup>1</sup>

More importantly, he failed to show a new factor relating to Count 2 that is highly relevant to the criteria for waiver and likely would have affected the juvenile court's waiver determination as to Count 2. At most, he showed that he could not have been waived on Count 1. But the facts underlying Count 1 would still have been presented to the juvenile court as part of Phillips' personality and personal history. *See* Wis. Stat. § 938.18(5). Thus, Phillips failed to show a new factor likely to have affected the juvenile court's waiver decision on Count 2 sufficient to justify the trial court in relinquishing its jurisdiction.

For all of these reasons, the trial court afforded Phillips all the relief to which he was entitled by allowing him to withdraw his no contest plea and vacating his conviction on Count 2. The trial court properly declined to grant Phillips' additional request that it remand Count 2 to the juvenile court.

4. Phillips' additional arguments lack merit.

Phillips asserts that the trial court lacked authority to vacate, affirm or modify the waiver order issued by the juvenile court. This is a non-issue. The trial court did not vacate, affirm or modify the waiver order issued by the juvenile court. As the trial court explained, it did nothing more than grant Phillips' request to allow him to withdraw his no contest pleas and vacate his convictions on both counts. It did not rule on whether the juvenile court should have elected to waive jurisdiction (53:9, 16-19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although Phillips originally alleged his juvenile court attorney and trial court attorney were both ineffective for failing to perceive the jurisdictional defect in the waiver of Count 1, he abandoned that motion after the State agreed that Phillips should be allowed to withdraw his pleas and his convictions on both counts should be vacated (53:26). Thus, Phillips never proved there is a reasonable probability that but for counsels' errors, the juvenile court would not have waived jurisdiction on Count 2.

The trial court properly determined that it had to vacate the conviction for Count 1 because it did not have subject matter jurisdiction over that non-waivable offense. A court can and should determine a question of jurisdiction whenever it comes to the court's attention, regardless of whether it was previously raised by the parties. *See State v. Annala*, 168 Wis. 2d 453, 460, 484 N.W.2d 138 (1992).

As to Count 2, the trial court did not affirm the waiver order. It simply exercised the jurisdiction it had acquired pursuant to the facially, jurisdictionally valid waiver order.

Phillips asserts that the trial court erred by concluding that the juvenile court could not exercise jurisdiction because Phillips was now eighteen. Under *Aufderhaar*, the trial court could have remanded to the juvenile court because the delinquency petition was filed before Phillips aged out of juvenile jurisdiction. But the trial court was not required to remand under the facts of this case, which are materially different from *Aufderhaar*, as the State discussed above.

Phillips claims the trial court erred as a matter of law by treating the waiver order as divisible. Phillips is wrong. Under the juvenile code, the juvenile court has authority to waive its exclusive jurisdiction over the juvenile as to certain offenses, depending upon the offense and the age of the juvenile at the time of the offense. As to any criminal offense, waiver depends upon both the offense alleged and the juvenile's age at the time of See Wis. Stat. §§ 938.18 and 938.183. offense. juvenile court can not waive jurisdiction of the "person" of the juvenile distinct from the offense charged or distinct from the juvenile's age at the time of that offense. The fact that the State alleged both counts in a single delinquency petition, and filed one waiver petition for both offenses, was simply a matter of efficiency. The juvenile court ordered waiver as to each count alleged. The waiver order as to Count 1 was facially, jurisdictionally void because Count 1 was a non-waivable

offense due to Phillips age at the time of the offense. The waiver order as to Count 2 was facially, jurisdictionally valid based on the offense charged and Phillips' age at the time of that offense.

The offenses in Count 1 and Count 2 are separate. The trial court properly treated the waiver order as to each offense separately and distinctly, notwithstanding that they were both issued on the same piece of paper.

Phillips claims the error was far from harmless. This is a non-issue. The trial court did not find any error harmless. It remedied the errors over which it had jurisdiction: it vacated Phillips criminal convictions on both Count 1 and Count 2.

Phillips appears to be claiming "the error" is that the juvenile court's decision to waive its jurisdiction on Count 2 was tainted because it was influenced by the fact that the State also sought waiver on Count 1. In the juvenile court, he chose to forgo any challenge to prosecutive merit on both counts (56:6). The trial court did not address the question of whether the juvenile court would have waived jurisdiction on Count 2 if the State had not also sought waiver on Count 1, nor should it have attempted to address that question. The facially, jurisdictionally valid waiver order as to Count 2 gave the trial court jurisdiction over Phillips for that offense, and the trial court rightfully refused to look behind that facially valid order.

To the extent Phillips is asking this court to vacate the waiver order, that request is inappropriate. The only orders before this court for review are the trial court's order allowing plea withdrawal, vacating the criminal convictions on both counts and declining to remand either count to the juvenile court and the order denying the motion for reconsideration. The juvenile court's waiver order is not before this court for review.

Phillips' challenges to the trial court's refusal to remand to the juvenile court are without merit and should be rejected by this court.

#### **CONCLUSION**

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